Third World Feminism During The Coup in Myanmar:

Exploring the Role of Women in the Spring Revolution Since 2021

Written by:

Aye Eaindray Maung MSc. Gender and Development Studies Asian Institute of Technology

August 2024

Table of Contents

Abstract1	L
Introduction)
Research Problem	;
Literature Review	ŀ
Third World Feminism4	ŀ
Third World Feminists as Culture Traitors5	;
Essentialism and Impacts of Militarization on Women6	;
Analysis	;
Reclaiming the Position of Women during the Revolution8	3
Third World Feminist Movements Challenging Gender Norms9	J
Reinforcing Gender Norms in the Revolutionary Forces10)
Different Challenges of Marginalized Women11	L
Coordination and Networking among Women13	}
Agency of Women through Their Labour and Love14	ŀ
Conclusion and Recommendations15	;
References	;
Acknowledgments	;
About the Author	;

Abstract

Third World Feminism emphasizes the importance of recognizing diversity and addressing the limitations of mainstream feminism, particularly its tendency to ignore critical differences like class, race, and colonial experiences. Women in Myanmar have historically been marginalized due to deeply entrenched social norms and patriarchal practices, which are reinforced by the military and religious institutions (Than et al, 2018). Since the coup in 2021, women have played crucial roles in incorporating the struggles of addressing gender issues and women's rights into the anticoup movements (Yee, 2024). This research brief examined the struggles of women in Myanmar during the Spring Revolution since 2021 through the lens of the Third World Feminist Approach and highlighted key findings on reclaiming women's roles. Women in the Spring Revolution were stepping beyond traditional gender roles to engage in paramilitary training and frontline activities. Their efforts have exposed the constructed nature of gender norms and rallied with male allies to join the fight against gender inequality, sexual violence, and militarism through innovative methods such as the Sarong Revolution. Despite progress, gender discrimination remains in revolutionary areas, limiting women's participation and perpetuating gender stereotypes, underlining the ongoing struggle for gender equality. Our findings suggest the urgent need for research and legal protection for women in revolutionary settings who face high risks of genderbased violence and discrimination. Addressing these gaps is crucial for the safety and involvement of women, particularly in times of revolution.

Introduction

Third World feminism is a concept that seeks to value diversity while establishing crossborder alliances in the struggle against injustice (Ismail, 2020). It focuses on the relationship between the cultural and ideological construction of what it means to be a woman and the actual experiences of women—which are live, real, and unique. Third World feminism also challenges racism in mainstream feminism and criticizes the concept of "global sisterhood," which overlooks significant distinctions such as class, race, imperialism, and colonial experiences (Morgan 1984; Mohanty 1984, as cited in Ismail, 2020). Based on the lens of Third World feminism, this research brief explored the struggles of women and their feminist movements in Myanmar during the Spring Revolution since 2021.

In Myanmar, women have been historically marginalized due to social norms and patriarchal practices that diminish their perceived value (Tun et al., 2019). Moreover, questioning patriarchy implies opposing the country's two largest institutions, the military and Sangha (Buddhist religious order) (Than et al., 2018). They also reinforce customary laws and traditions, which further systematically undermine women's rights, particularly on inheritance, decision-making, marriage, and divorce. This systemic inequality is exacerbated among women from ethnic minorities and marginalized groups (Tun et al., 2019).

Since the Spring Revolution in Myanmar, women and minorities have played a crucial role in resisting the coup perpetrated by Min Aung Hlaing on February 1, 2021 (Jordt et al., 2021). Despite the inhumane dominance by the military forces, women are taking on a variety of positions during the revolution, such as participating as Civil Disobedience Movement (CDM) members, backline supporters, and resistance group members (Wai, 2024). At the same time, women have

3

also played essential roles in incorporating the struggle of addressing gender issues and women's rights into the anti-coup movements (Yee, 2024).

As of January 2024, the ongoing conflict in various regions in Myanmar has displaced 2.7 million people, with women and children disproportionately affected (UN Women, 2024). The Humanitarian Needs and Response Plan 2024 estimates that 18.6 million people in Myanmar will require humanitarian assistance (United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA), 2024). Among this population, 52% are women and girls, and 13% are people with disabilities, underlining the diverse vulnerabilities within the affected communities. According to the Assistance Association for Political Prisoners (AAPP, 2024), as of June 30, 2024, 21% of political prisoners are women (5,555 out of 26,936 people detained), and 1,050 women have been killed by the authorities since the coup. Despite being disproportionately impacted by the collapse of political, military, social, and economic structures, the unwavering political participation and resilience of the marginalized women in Myanmar have been instrumental in challenging and weakening the junta's entrenched authoritarian control (Burmese Women's Union, 2023).

Research Problem

Since the revolution, women have been a part of the widespread demonstrations against the coup, who helped form a values-based, democratic revolutionary movement that is antidictatorship, anti-military, anti-racism, and anti-sexism (Jordt et al., 2021). Thus, feminism has grown in momentum with Myanmar's current revolution (Wai, 2024). Women have served a vital role in generations of struggle, but their civil rights are not fully accepted by the society, and individuals across all religions, social classes, and ethnicities continue to face sexual assault and other types of exploitation and forms of discrimination (Wai, 2024). Thus, critical movements must address greater systemic barriers rather than attending to the issues of the privileged populations. Justice for all Myanmar women should be prioritized over questions that provide only specific communities access to resources and opportunities (Yee, 2024). This paper explained the concept of Third World Feminism Activism by referencing different scholars. Moreover, the role of women during the Spring Revolution was analyzed using the Third World Feminist Approach in order to understand the current landscape of women's movements in Myanmar.

Literature Review

Third World Feminism

The term "colonization" has been used to describe a wide range of phenomena, including the hierarchy of economy and politics and the emergence of a specific cultural discourse, the socalled "Third World" (Mohanty, 1988). Furthermore, he claimed that any discourse on the intellectual and political structure of Third World feminisms needs to consider two commitments: the critique of dominant Western feminisms and the development of independent, historically, geographically, and culturally based feminist issues and approaches, such as the case of post-coup Myanmar. The first approach focuses on deconstructing and dismantling, while the second one emphasizes on building and constructing according to the third world countries' experiences (Mohanty, 1988). Narayan (1998) stressed that different theories on feminism and political agendas should consider the diversity of women's lives, both inside and outside of national contexts. Therefore, a project that addresses the disparities between women's experiences and their needs is essential; otherwise, "it will support and perpetuate problematic and colonialist presumptions regarding the cultural distinctions between "Western Culture" and "Non-Western Cultures," as well as the women who live in them" (Narayan, 1998, p. 87). Third World women who are marginalized and who lack resources serve as the model representation of Third World women (Narayan, 1998).

Third World Feminists as Culture Traitors

Women are assigned with the responsibility of preserving culture. Interestingly, scholars have repeatedly noted that when third-world feminists attempt to challenge accepted beliefs, they are labelled as "stooges of Western imperialism" and "cultural betrayals" (Narayan, 1998, p. 91). For instance, although women from the Third World countries have collaborated with nationalists in their anti-colonial and independence campaigns, the majority of Third World feminists acknowledge that the historical relationship between states (nationalists) and women has been unstable (Jayawar-dena, 1986, as cited in Herr, 2014). This instability largely stems from the fact that male nationalists have consistently adhered to essentialist and masculinist ideas of country and nationalism, which rely on the subordination of women (Herr, 2014). As a result, nationalists in many Third World countries have upheld patriarchal legislation, marginalizing feminists by branding them 'inauthentic' and excluding them from political discourse. Similarly, development practitioners addressing gender issues often face accusations of lacking cultural sensitivity, as challenging deeply ingrained gender norms is seen as a threat to cultural traditions (Mukhopadhyay, 1995). This underscores how gender roles are perceived as central to cultural identity, and questioning them often faces strong resistance because it threatens long-established power dynamics.

Similarly, in Myanmar, feminism is often misinterpreted as advocating female dominance rather than women's rights (Than et al., 2018). This fear of feminism has led many female politicians and activists to use the term "gender equality" instead. Since the military takeover in

6

February 2021, women have led the opposition, challenging traditional norms that confine them to reproductive and care work while men handle politics (A & Gaborit, 2021; Burmese Women's Union and Assistance Association for Political Prisoners, 2004, as cited in A & Gaborit, 2021).

Essentialism and Impacts of Militarization on Women

In essentialist perception, cultures are often portrayed as unchangeable and natural, reinforcing harmful gender norms as central to cultural identity (Narayan, 1998). In nationalist contexts supported by the military, women's identities and bodies have become symbols of ethnic or national identity (Yuval-Davis, 1997, 2009, as cited in Olivius & Hedström, 2019). These political agendas prioritize rigid gender norms, which dictate how men and women should behave (Banerjee, 2006; Narayan, 1997, as referenced in Olivius & Hedström, 2019). Third-world feminists criticize these essentialist perspectives, with many framing feminism as a resistance to warfare and militarization (Olivius & Hedström, 2019). A notable example is the Sarong Revolution during Myanmar's Spring Revolution, with its slogan 'Our Sarong, Our Flag, Our Victory.' This movement not only fought for democracy and condemned the military coup but also symbolized resistance to the patriarchal military system, advocating for gender equality (Reuters, 2021).

Feminist researchers have highlighted the connection between military conflict and with the notions of masculinity and femininity. Men are usually portrayed as aggressive and violent, having the duty of protecting home and country, whereas women are portrayed as non-violent and fragile, requiring the protection of men (Ehlstain, 1987, as cited in Olivius & Hedström, 2019). In Myanmar, the military is an exclusively patriarchal society, and religion is predominantly masculine. Furthermore, values from Buddhist stories are used to comprehend, defend, and maintain unequal roles for men and women in the country (Than et al., 2018). In some revolutionary forces during the Spring Revolution, men often hold military-related positions, while women are working in logistics, medicine, and fundraising, even though there are no written gender rules (Collions & Gynn, 2014). However, Olivius and Hedström (2019) argue that militarized nationalism can serve as an opportunity to promote women's participation by solidifying the feminist organizations that challenge patriarchy and advance women's rights and equality, citing the example of the exiled Burmese women's movement after the 1988 uprising in Myanmar. After that, women activists strategically navigated between loyalty to ethno-nationalist movements and their own agendas for gender equality. By leveraging traditional notions of femininity to legitimize their roles and drawing on international advocacy, they reshaped gender roles and overcame their marginalization from the political and public spheres (Olivius and Hedström, 2019).

Using the lens of "Third World Feminism," this study brief revealed the experiences and challenges of women in the most recent political shock in Myanmar reinforced by pre-existing patriarchal social norms. The intersectionality framework is used to analyze how women are positioned within patriarchy and gender identities, as well as within broader systems of oppression, including race and class (Davis, 2008; Nash, 2008; Phoenix & Pattynama, 2006, as cited in Mehrotra, 2010). Through an intersectional framework, this perspective also allows us to critically analyze the issue and enables us to recognize various levels of oppression experienced by the different women and marginalized populations from distinct socioeconomic statuses and experiences (Wai, 2024). Hence, the exclusion of women and marginalized genders in Myanmar is better understood from the third-world feminist point of view. Accordingly, this paper drew

information from published research, articles, reports, and data on Myanmar's Spring Revolution. However, due to the limited data on women in the revolution, this study examined and described links between the works of scholars and on-the-ground situations from academic literature and feminists in Myanmar.

Analysis

Reclaiming the Position of Women during the Revolution

Following the coup, women from the garment sector who arrived by bus from marginalized areas of Yangon were among the first to lead demonstrations (Hedström et al., 2023b). They chanted, "We must resist! We have nothing to lose but our chains" (Jordt et al., 2021, p. 8). Women in the revolution fall into four groups: Civil Disobedience Movement (CDM) participants, demonstrators, backline supporters, and female combatants (Than, 2023). Women and girls composed 60% of the CDM, including teachers, healthcare professionals, human rights advocates, and labor union leaders, which earned a nomination for the 2022 Nobel Peace Prize (Hedström et al., 2023b) and proof of women and girls' joint efforts.

A significant post-coup shift is the reclamation of women's roles in the revolution. No longer confined to traditional support roles, women are now actively participating in paramilitary training in liberated areas (Wai, 2024). The very first women's guerrilla group, the "Myaung Women Guerrilla Group," was established in late 2021 (Hedström et al., 2023b), signifying a break from stereotypes and highlighting women's active participation in the revolution (Wai, 2024). As a result, women are breaking traditional gender norms and taking ownership and responsibility in the revolution. Their active participation demonstrates that, although women are often perceived as 'soft' and confined to traditional roles, they are challenging these stereotypes by taking on the same roles as men. Women are not only defying the established notions of masculinity and femininity but also proving their capability in military and leadership roles, reshaping the very nature of resistance in Myanmar.

Third World Feminist Movements Challenging Gender Norms

Women in Myanmar are rebelling against society's treatment of them as the second sex while also breaking the influence of male-dominated leadership (Wai, 2024). Sarong Revolution challenges cultural essentialism and patriarchy in Myanmar. Patriarchal norms claim a man's "hpon" (aura or dominance) is diminished if he passes beneath a woman's sarong. Protestors used this belief by hanging sarong-draped clotheslines across streets, delaying soldiers and heightening their fear of losing power or dying in combat (A & Gaborit, 2021). Furthermore, they placed pictures of coup leader Min Aung Hlaing on pathways, compelling soldiers to remove them before proceeding, as stomping on the image was interpreted as undermining the dictator's hpon (Jordt et al., 2021). Such innovative methods highlight a difference in gender standards between the military and resistance groups. While the patriarchal military upholds sexist norms, demonstrators have amplified the debate in Myanmar (A & Gaborit, 2021).

The Sarong Revolution also effectively rallied male allies. An analysis from the women's organization on the ground (Anonymous, 2024) highlighted that the movement did not target men as the 'enemy.' Instead, it focused on dismantling systems that perpetuate gender inequality, sexual violence, and militarism. The movement exposed gender norms as constructed and unnatural and revealed the military's flawed logic, where 'big, strong men' feared entering areas due to a piece of women's clothing. Moreover, young women and girls questioned a variety of societal systems, including patriarchy, gender stereotypes, and cultural uniformity. An important component of their protest was opposing the hyper-masculine image of soldiers, which they questioned by

demonstrating transgressive gender expressions such as cross-dressing and the visibility of LGBTQ+ identities (Jordt et al., 2021). Hence, their actions threatened not only the state's power and coercion but also established power dynamics. According to Than (2023), the rapid expansion of anti-coup groups into a broader revolution emphasizes the importance of radical politics in exposing the patriarchal military's inhumane behaviour.

The #Manel Exhibitions, organized by Sawleen Institute and the Women's League of Burma (WLB), also sparked heated debate within Burma's democracy movement about the crucial need for inclusivity (SEA Junction, 2023). Furthermore, the display of #Manels (all-male panels) demonstrates the persistent exclusion of women from public dialogues. This exclusion not only silences women's views, but it also undermines the long-term objectives of federal democratic unity, peaceful coexistence, and justice in the country.

Reinforcing Gender Norms in the Revolutionary Forces

Regardless of the Spring Revolution challenging gender norms, gender discrimination persists in revolutionary areas. Due to the lack of internet and phone service in some areas since the coup, people can only access the internet in specific locations, such as high-altitude mountains. However, women from a certain region of Karenni State are prohibited from climbing the particular mountain to access the internet since it is higher than the *Tagondaing*, which is a religious and cultural landmark. Women are thought to have less 'hpon and power' than men and are therefore restricted from standing physically higher than the *Tagondaing* (Collins & Gynn, 2024). Similarly, in Southeast Myanmar, a woman from the revolutionary army was barred from helping construct a roof, as it was believed that women could harm their 'hpon' by being at a height above men (Wai, 2024).

Additionally, menstruating women are prohibited from attending cultural or religious rituals and sleeping in living rooms (Collins & Gynn, 2024). Women are always expected to uphold and preserve cultural norms. For instance, Kachin women wearing non-Kachin fabric patterns face criticism for being unpatriotic (Kaw, 2024). One of the women from the Karenni resistance areas stated that women are not allowed to go to the front lines, despite the fact that some women want to take on and participate in the battle (Collins & Gynn, 2024). It is frequently based on the unquestioned assumption that women are less capable and require more protection and attention than men in times of war (Collins & Gynn, 2024).

Wai (2024), a female member of the revolutionary army, observed that men believe they have to be harder than women and are accountable for their safety. Trainers judged women based on gender stereotypes rather than their ability, forcing them to work harder to show their worth and avoid elimination. Wai also received opposition from male members after becoming a squad captain in her armed-resistance force, showing the problems that women experience as a result of their identity. Hence, women's agendas have made limited progress during the revolution. Although attitudes towards women have evolved marginally, they must still comply with traditional expectations in order to prosper and demonstrate their dedication as revolutionaries (Collins & Gynn, 2024).

Different Challenges of Marginalized Women

Some Western feminist ideas portray Third World women as monolithic, such as impoverished, illiterate, tradition-bound, and domestic, which should be challenged (Mohanty, 1988). Similarly, the challenges that women face in Myanmar are not the same since individuals from various socioeconomic groups, such as factory workers, war victims, LGBTQIA+, or non-Bama identities, have distinct experiences (Yee, 2024). The resistance has been sparked and driven

forward by factory workers and striking civil servants who are part of the CDM, along with young student activists and women fighters (Yee, 2024). However, non-Bama women face marginalization from both their communities and mainstream gender movements due to structural barriers in customary laws and traditional practices (Yee, 2024).

The society has been permeated by the military mindset that is entirely based on masculine characteristics such as toughness, strength, courage, and a desire to fight (Wai, 2024). Also, even in a revolutionary army, when everyone is armed, there is a power disparity and hierarchy between men, women, and LGBTQ+ individuals (Wai, 2024). Tatmadaw soldiers have used sexual violence as a weapon to degrade and torture women for decades. The report by the Burmese Women's Union (2023) documented 59 cases of sexual violence, including 36 cases of sexual assault and 23 cases of domestic violence and sexual exploitation, perpetrated by the military, armed resistance groups, and civilians. Due to the lack of direct access to the most vulnerable women, coupled with the societal taboo regarding this issue and the absence of safe resources for victims of abuse, the full horror of the reality on the ground is vastly underrepresented. Building solid evidence of cases committed has proven difficult, particularly when communicating with eyewitnesses due to displacement, outbreak of wars, connection issues, and safety concerns. The majority of women sexually attacked are also mentally unable to share what happened to them (Burmese Women's Union, 2023). Therefore, establishing specific policies and guidelines regarding violence against women, including sexual violence, law enforcement, and effective punishment and action against the perpetrators of sexual violence are recommended (Burmese Women's Union, 2023). Listening from marginalized female perspectives can provide a different framework for mobilizing the feminist movement in Myanmar and achieving justice by challenging patriarchy (Yee, 2024).

The Women's Alliance Burma (WAB) was formed as a protest coordination group to bring together a variety of women's organisations and types of participation during the revolution. Although the resistance movement lacked a clear leader, ethnic minority women emerged as figureheads, rallying protesters in Yangon and in other major cities and instilling the anti-coup movement with demands for a future federal Myanmar that considers the rights of ethnic and sexual minorities and women (Loong, 2021, as cited in Hedström et al., 2023b).

Women's groups, particularly ethnic minority women, played an important role in granting leadership and humanitarian support to locals during the coup (Progressive Voice, 2021, as quoted in Hedström et al., 2023b). However, the international community has not met the funding needs of women's groups, and they face challenges, including assaults and threats, as well as a lack of communication channels, amenities, and safe housing where they can hide (Hedström et al., 2023b).

The National Unity Government (NUG) of Myanmar, established in April 2021, consists of 28 members, including 7 women, making up about one-third of the group (Hedström et al., 2023b). However, increasing the number of women in the NUG cabinet is crucial to enhance their active participation in decision-making and to address existing imbalances. Women's networks also serve as consultants to the National Unity Consultative Council (NUCC), which later developed the Gender Equality Position Paper for the revolution and transition period (Hedström et al., 2023b). Also, women's substantial engagement in the resistance to military rule is the product of decades of movements, particularly during periods of political improvements, which allowed women's groups and networks within the country to expand their operations, importance, and reach (Hedström et al., 2023b). According to Than (2023), feminism was strong in Myanmar prior to the coup, but only one form was understandable to the outside world, particularly the Western world. Now, the revolution has strengthened the coordination and solidarity among women in Myanmar.

Agency of Women through Their Labour and Love

While women's collective leadership has been vital in the resistance, it is equally important to recognize their personal agency by means of everyday labour and care work, which sustains both their communities and the broader revolutionary movement. The civil wars in Myanmar exacerbated women's workload and financial burden (Hedström et al., 2023a). Throughout Burma's Spring Revolution, women's labour, both in the home and in public spaces, has been critical to daily living and resistance efforts (Hedström et al., 2023a).

The recent conscription law implemented by the junta has compelled thousands of young people to flee the country. The law mandates the recruitment of men aged 18-45 and women aged 18-35, with married women exempted from conscription—highlighting the military's inherent misogyny (Reuters, 2024). This policy disproportionately affects low-income populations, further marginalizing women and LGBTQIA+ individuals. As men are forcibly conscripted, women face increased burdens, exacerbating existing gender inequalities. The exemption of married women from conscription may also increase the risk of early and forced marriages for girls and women (Reuters, 2024). In the absence of income, safety, and male family members, women have shouldered a greater share of the responsibility in building meaningful lives, further increasing their burdens (Zin Mar and Kusakabe 2010, Hedström and Olivius 2020, as cited in Hedström et al., 2023a).

Hedström et al. (2023a) further mentioned that division of labour based on gender roles allows less-resourced revolutionary armies to sustain revolutions by assigning men as combat commanders, and according to the gender norms, women shall assume reproductive and care work. Despite experiencing mental stress, oppression, and relocation, women fought for a more just future through hard labour and affection for their families and communities. Moreover, they claimed that the labour share of women in rural areas helps households survive violence and build a better future, but it is often overlooked in discussions on nation-building and conflict resolution. Also, the alliance of women has made it possible for armed organizations to take advantage of women's labour more efficiently.

In addition to providing food on the table, love has the power to spark political revolutions. The fundamental goal of revolution is to integrate the gendered effort and passion for creating a meaningful existence with larger revolution (Hedström et al., 2023a). The contribution of women through their love and labour in the revolution movements is their way of practising agency in the Spring Revolution. Ong (1998) highlighted that women may have different ideas about justice and may seek or select other paths from what we consider to be the most desirable (as referenced in Abu-Lughod, 2002). Long-term conflicts manifest not only in combat zones but also in the everyday life activities in homes and communities as a form of Third World Feminism (Arjona et al., 2015, as cited in Hedström et al., 2023a).

Conclusion and Recommendations

Understanding feminism in Myanmar requires consideration of the contextual societal and political landscape, including the structural oppression and patriarchal standards that women face (Than, 2023). Despite facing exhaustion, insecurity, and fear, women demonstrate courage and commitment in resisting injustice (Hedström & Olivius, 2023). Both the Myanmar military and the People's Defense Force (PDF) are inherently patriarchal, reflecting characteristics typically associated with war and armed forces (Thu Pone, 2023). Consequently, women in the military

16

service must conform to these expectations. Thus, it is necessary to apply a gendered lens in examining armed organizations—whether state or non-state—since this adds critical nuance to the understanding of war and ceasefire processes.

The impact of the revolution on women has been underexplored. Although the role of women in the revolution is recognized in literature, there is still a lack of extensive research on the challenges that they face, whether at home, on the backlines, or in the PDF. Marginalized women, including garment workers, low-income informal workers, ethnic minorities, and rural women, have significantly contributed to the revolution. Findings of this review showed that in Myanmar, the term "feminism" is rarely used in literature due to its negative connotations. Therefore, additional research on feminism in Myanmar is crucial for better understanding of the ideological revolution and public advocacy as the movement dismantles the sexist dictatorship.

Moreover, addressing the challenges of women in the revolution should be prioritized on the agenda that may be used later as a basis to push for advocacy, education, and policy changes. The issues faced by women and LGBTQIA+ during the revolution, such as gender-based violence and discrimination and conflict-related sexual violence, must be recognized and addressed by the stakeholders. Furthermore, women's roles should not be limited to the background; their perspectives and voices must be included in public decision-making. There is an urgent need for more diverse women leaders to represent the broader spectrum of women's needs. The 2021 coup reaffirmed the feminist belief that "The personal is political" (Than, 2023), prompting feminists to focus on systemic oppression done by the military. Hence, the narrative has shifted from the past, emphasizing that society cannot be free if women are not free.

In conclusion, historical context and understanding of intersectionality are important to understand feminist interpretations of oppression and resistance experienced by Third World women. Thus, it is important to recognize the different voices and agency of women, particularly those from the marginalized communities. The Spring Revolution has exemplified the resilience, activism, and solidarity of women in Myanmar, despite the brutal threats posed by the military. While women's activism and feminism have gained momentum through the anti-coup movement and grassroots of Third World feminist responses in Myanmar, there remains a need to institutionalize gender-sensitive mechanisms within the structures of the interim government (NUG), resistance forces, and civil society organizations (CSOs) to reduce gender inequalities in the country.

- A, A., & Gaborit, L. S. (2021). Dancing with the junta again. *Anthropology in Action*, 28(2), 51–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.3167/aia.2021.280207</u>
- Abu-Lughod, L. (2002). Do muslim women really need saving? anthropological reflections on cultural relativism and its others. *American Anthropologist*, 104(3), 783–790. https://doi.org/10.1525/aa.2002.104.3.783

<u>Anonymous. (2024).</u> Analysis of Sarong Revolution during Myanmar Military Coup

[Unpublished manuscript].

- Assistance Association for Political Prisoners . (2024). Graphs of arrest and death data as of June 30, 2024 collected and compiled by the Assistance Association for Political Prisoners (AAPP) since the February 1, 2021 military coup. Retrieved June 30, 2024, from https://aappb.org/?p=28540
- Burmese Women's Union. (2024). Women News Analysis Paper—January to December 2023. <u>https://burmesewomensunion.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/20230108-BWU-Situation-</u> <u>Analysis-Paper-ENGLISH.pdf</u>
- Burmese Women's Union. (2024). *Sexual violence against women under the political instability*. <u>https://progressivevoicemyanmar.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Sexual-Violence-</u> Against-Women-under-the-Political-Instability-ENG.pdf
- Collins., & Gynn. (2024). Visible and Invisible Barriers for Women in the Karenni War Zone. In *Independent Journal of Burmese Scholarship* (Vol. 4, pp. 33-42). essay, Wanida Press.

- Hedström, J., Faxon, H. O., Phyo, Z. M., Pan, H., Kha Yae, M., Yay, K., & Mi, M. (2023a).
 Forced fallow fields: Making meaningful life in the Myanmar Spring Revolution. *Civil Wars*, 1–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13698249.2023.2240620</u>
- Hedström, J., Olivius, E., & Soe, K. (2023b). Women in Myanmar: Change and Continuity. *In Myanmar: Politics, Economy and Society* (pp. 220-236). Routledge.
- Herr, R. S. (2014). Reclaiming third world feminism. *Meridians*, 12(1), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.2979/meridians.12.1.1
- Ismail, F. (2020). Chandra Talpade Mohanty (1955) and third world feminism. Routledge Handbook of Marxism and Post-Marxism, 460–467. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315149608-54
- Jordt, I., Than, T., & Lin, S. Y. (2021). How Generation Z Galvanized a Revolutionary Movement against Myanmar's 2021 Military Coup (No. 7). Singapore: ISEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute.
- Kaw, W. (2024). Who are Kachin Women? Being (and Being Portrayed as) a Kachin Woman. In Independent Journal of Burmese Scholarship (Vol. 4, pp. 59–77). essay, Wanida Press.
- Mehrotra, G. (2010). Toward a continuum of intersectionality theorizing for Feminist Social Work Scholarship. Affilia: Journal of Women and Social Work, 25(4), 417–430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109910384190</u>
- Mohanty, C. (1988). Under Western eyes: Feminist scholarship and colonial discourses. *Feminist review*, *30*(1), 61-88.

- Mukhopadhyay, M. (1995). Gender Relations, development practice and "culture." *Gender & amp;* Development, 3(1), 13–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/741921766</u>
- Narayan, U. (1998). Essence of culture and a sense of history: A feminist critique of cultural essentialism. *Hypatia*, *13*(2), 86–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.1998.tb01227.x</u>
- Olivius, E., & Hedström, J. (2019). Militarized nationalism as a platform for feminist mobilization? The case of the exiled Burmese women's movement. In *Women's Studies International Forum* (Vol. 76, p. 102263). Pergamon.
- Reuters. (2021). *With 'Sarong Revolution', women in Myanmar defy coup and patriarchy.* Reuters. Retrieved March 11, 2021, from <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/world/with-sarong-revolution-women-in-myanmar-defy-coup-and-patriarchy-idUSKBN2B31TA/</u>
- Reuters. (2024). Women forced to flee Myanmar as junta enforces conscription to bolster troops. The Hindu. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://www.thehindu.com/news/international/women-forced-to-flee-myanmar-as-juntaenforces-conscription-to-bolster-troops/article68369869.ece

- SEA Junction. (2023). *Manel exhibition: where are the women?*. Retrieved October 17, 2023, from https://seajunction.org/event/manels-exhibition/
- Than, T. (2023). Is there such a thing as Myanmar feminism? In *Independent Journal of Burmese Scholarship:Special Issue on Feminism.* (Vol. 4, pp. 26–39). essay, Wanida Press.
- Than, T., Han, P. L., & Lei, S. (2018). Lost in Translation: Feminism in Myanmar. *Independent Journal of Burmese Scholarship*, 1-12.

- Tun, A. L., Ring, L., & Hlaing, S. S. (2019). Feminism in Myanmar. Friedrich Ebert Stifung. <u>https://asia.fes.de/news/feminism-in-myanmar</u>
- UNDP. (2018). Human Development Indices and Indicators 2018 Statistical Update. https://hdr.undp.org/system/files/documents/2018humandevelopmentstatisticalupdatepdf.p df
- UNDP. (2024). Poverty and the household economy of Myanmar: A disappearing middle class. https://www.undp.org/publications/poverty-and-household-economy-myanmardisappearing-middle-class
- UN
 Women.
 (2024).
 Myanmar:
 Country
 Context
 2024–2025

 https://asiapacific.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2024-04/mn-unwomenmyanmar 202425-country-profile.pdf
- UNOCHA. (2024). Myanmar Humanitarian Needs and Response Plan 2024 Addendum https://www.unocha.org/publications/report/myanmar/myanmar-humanitarian-needs-andresponse-plan-2024-addendum
- Wai, H. (2024). Struggles of a Woman Armed Revolutionary. In Independent Journal of Burmese Scholarship (Vol. 4, pp. 172–179). essay, Wanida Press.

Wai, H. (2024). တော်လှန်ရေး ရဲ့ကိုယ်တွင်းပဋိပက္ခများ. Revolution at Point Zera. Retrieved

March 29, 2024, from <u>https://www.facebook.com/RevAtPointZero/posts/pfbid0LMkZ2dSud85ptfZckQA1ztKuy</u> <u>bh3LxTmZzSj4PLGkoGggoUozmCmoGcupVQx2cS11</u>

- Wai, Thet. (2023). A New Feminist Narrative: Towards More Inclusive Southeast Asian Democracies. Series 1, Publication 1. New Naratif. <u>https://newnaratif.com/a-new-feminist-narrative/</u>
- Xie, P. (2022, November 24). Here, There, and Everywhere: Feminist Resistance beyond the "Women, Peace and Security" Agenda in Post-Coup Myanmar. *Feministische Friedensforschung*. <u>https://blog.prif.org/2022/11/24/here-there-and-everywhere-feminist-resistance-beyond-the-women-peace-and-security-agenda-in-post-coup-myanmar/</u>
- Yee, S. L. S. (2024). How mainstream gender activism failed marginalized women from 20112021. In *Independent Journal of Burmese Scholarship* (Vol. 4, pp. 119-129). essay, Wanida Press.

Acknowledgments

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my respected professors: Dr. Joyee S. Chatterjee (academic advisor), Professor Kyoko Kusakabe, and Dr. Philippe Doneys, for their invaluable guidance, comments, and suggestions on this research brief. Their support, instructions, and insights throughout my study in the Gender and Development Studies Programme have been instrumental in integrating my passion into academic knowledge, which I will carry forward in future endeavors. Finally, I would also like to express my deepest thanks to the Knowledge for Democracy Myanmar (K4DM) Initiative, which is a part of the International Development Research Centre (IDRC), for funding my scholarship to pursue my master's degree at the Asian Institute of Technology, Thailand, during the critical period in Myanmar.

About the Author

Aye Eaindray Maung is an intersectional feminist from Myanmar, holding a master's degree in Gender and Development Studies from the Asian Institute of Technology, Thailand. Driven by her passion to address gender inequalities, she has been actively involved in writing advocacy articles aimed at raising public awareness on women's rights and social justice. Currently, she works as a development practitioner, focusing on empowering women in Myanmar and supporting grassroots initiatives that challenge gender norms and promote gender equity. Her work reflects a strong commitment to advancing the feminist movements and coalition building in her home country.